

seminars in CANCER BIOLOGY

www.elsevier.com/locate/semcancer

Seminars in Cancer Biology 17 (2007) 403-410

Invited article

# Cancer prevention with freeze-dried berries and berry components

Gary D. Stoner<sup>a,\*</sup>, Li-Shu Wang<sup>a</sup>, Nancy Zikri<sup>b</sup>, Tong Chen<sup>c</sup>, Stephen S. Hecht<sup>d</sup>, Chuanshu Huang<sup>e</sup>, Christine Sardo<sup>c</sup>, John F. Lechner<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, College of Medicine, The Ohio State University,

Innovation Centre, 2001 Polaris Parkway, Columbus, OH 43240, USA

<sup>b</sup> Division of Environmental Health Sciences, College of Public Health, The Ohio State University,

Innovation Centre, 2001 Polaris Parkway, Columbus, OH 43240, USA

<sup>c</sup> The Ohio State University Comprehensive Cancer Center, Innovation Centre, 2001 Polaris Parkway,

Columbus, OH 43240, USA

<sup>d</sup> University of Minnesota Cancer Center, 420 Delaware St., S.E., Minneapolis, MN 55455, USA

<sup>e</sup> Department of Environmental Medicine, Nelson Institute of Environmental Medicine, NYU Medical Center,

57 Old Forge Rd., Tuxedo, NY 10987, USA

# Abstract

Our laboratory is developing a food-based approach to the prevention of esophageal and colon cancer utilizing freeze-dried berries and berry extracts. Dietary freeze-dried berries were shown to inhibit chemically induced cancer of the rodent esophagus by 30–60% and of the colon by up to 80%. The berries are effective at both the initiation and promotion/progression stages of tumor development. Berries inhibit tumor initiation events by influencing carcinogen metabolism, resulting in reduced levels of carcinogen-induced DNA damage. They inhibit promotion/progression events by reducing the growth rate of pre-malignant cells, promoting apoptosis, reducing parameters of tissue inflammation and inhibiting angiogenesis. On a molecular level, berries modulate the expression of genes involved with proliferation, apoptosis, inflammation and angiogenesis. We have recently initiated clinical trials; results from a toxicity study indicated that freeze-dried black raspberries are well tolerated in humans when administered orally for 7 days at a dose of 45 g per day. Several Phase IIa clinical trials are underway in patients at high risk for esophagus and colon cancer; i.e., Barrett's esophagus, esophageal dysplasia and colonic polyps, to determine if berries will modulate various histological and molecular biomarkers of development of these diseases.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Black raspberries; Colon; Esophagus; Cancer; Prevention

# Contents

1.	Cancers studied			
	1.1. Esophageal cancer	404		
	1.2. Colon cancer	404		
2.	Rationale for freeze-dried berries as chemopreventive agents	404		
3.	"Standardized" berry powders			
4.	Prevention of esophagus cancer in rodents			
	4.1. Rodent esophagus model system	405		
	4.2. Bioassays with berries	405		
	4.3. Effects of berries on gene expression in the esophagus	406		
5.	The active chemopreventive constituents			
6.	Prevention of colon cancer in rodents 4			
7.	In vitro studies with berry extracts			

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 614 293 3268; fax: +1 614 293 5952.

*E-mail addresses*: gary.stoner@osumc.edu (G.D. Stoner), wang.774@osu.edu (L.-S. Wang), zikri.2@osu.edu (N. Zikri), tong.chen@osumc.edu (T. Chen), hecht002@umn.edu (S.S. Hecht), chuanshu@env.med.nyu.edu (C. Huang), christine.sardo@osumc.edu (C. Sardo), john.lechner@osumc.edu (J.F. Lechner).

<sup>1044-579</sup>X/\$ – see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2007.05.001

8.	3. Human clinical trials with berries					
	8.1.	Toxicity	408			
	8.2.	Esophagus trials	408			
		8.2.1. Barrett's esophagus	408			
	8.3.	Colon trials	408			
		8.3.1. Colon cancer patients	408			
9.	Sumn	nary	408			
	Acknowledgements					
	References					

# 1. Cancers studied

#### 1.1. Esophageal cancer

Adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma are the principal types. The prognosis of both is poor (<10%, 5-year survival) [1]. Adenocarcinoma is more prevalent in the United States and develops primarily in patients with Barrett's esophagus [2]. Barrett's is defined by columnar-lined metaplastic mucosal cells replacing the normal squamous epithelium in the distal esophagus. Barrett's in turn is caused by chronic gastroesophageal reflux disease. Barrett's patients are offered endoscopic surveillance involving biopsies to aid in early cancer detection [3]. Chemoprevention may represent an effective means to prevent or slow the development of cancer in these individuals.

Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) accounts for >90% of esophageal cancers worldwide [1,4]. This disease probably develops through a progressive sequence from mild to severe dysplasia, carcinoma in situ and, finally, invasive carcinoma [1,5,6]. This cancer shows marked variation in geographic distribution, with high frequencies in parts of China, South Africa, Iran, Uruguay, France, Italy and Puerto Rico [7-9]. The highest incidences are in the Henan, Shansi and Hopei provinces in China where the age-adjusted mortality rates are 151/100,000 for males and 115/100,000 for females [7-10]. Risk factors are tobacco smoking, alcohol consumption, ingestion of saltpickled, salt-cured and moldy foods, deficits in certain vitamins and minerals, and human papilloma virus (HPV) infection [11-15]. Thus, life-style changes, avoidance of tobacco and reduced alcohol use, (potentially) vaccination against oncogenic HPV, and enhanced consumption of chemopreventive foods may reduce the incidence of the disease.

# 1.2. Colon cancer

Colorectal cancer is the most prevalent digestive tract cancer in the Western world. It is third most common cancer in both men and women, and there will be 149,000 new cases in the U.S. in 2007. Colorectal cancer accounts for 10% of all annual cancer deaths in the U.S. [16]. Age is the primary risk factor; >90% of cases are diagnosed in individuals older than 50. Risk is also increased by certain inherited syndromes {familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC)}, a personal or family history of colorectal cancer and/or polyps, or a personal history of inflammatory bowel disease. Other factors include obesity, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol consumption, a diet high in red meat, and inadequate intake of vegetables and fruit. The sentinel preventative is endoscopic screening after age 50 to detect and remove precursor lesions (adenomatous polyps), and detection of early stage carcinomas [16]. Sadly, screening compliance is poor; however, encouraging pre-clinical chemoprevention studies suggest that regular use of aspirin, estrogen and progestin hormone therapy, and HMG Co-A reductase inhibitors (statins) may reduce colon cancer risk.

# 2. Rationale for freeze-dried berries as chemopreventive agents

In the mid-1980s we showed that the polyphenol ellagic acid inhibited carcinogen-induced esophagus tumors in rats when administered in their diet [17]. Analysis of 28 fruits showed that all contained some ellagic acid, but the highest concentrations (630–1500 µg/g dry weight) were in blackberries, raspberries, strawberries and cranberries [18]. Ellagic acid is abundant in the pulp and seeds, with little in the juice. As berries are 85–90% water we concentrated the ellagic acid 9-10-fold by freezedrying. The freeze-dried preparation was found to have active ellagic acid along with many known chemopreventive agents including vitamins A, C and E and folic acid; calcium and selenium;  $\beta$ -carotene,  $\alpha$ -carotene, lutein, gallic acid, ferulic acid, *p*-coumaric acid, quercetin, several anthocyanins, β-sitosterol, stigmasterol, and kaempferol [19]. Regarding toxicity, extensive histopathological studies of rats fed freeze-dried black raspberries (Rubus occidentalis, BRBs) or strawberries (Fragaria ananasia, STRWs) as 5 and 10% of a synthetic diet for a period of 9 months showed no evidence of changes in any organ or tissue. In addition, liver-specific enzymes were not affected, and there was about a 10% reduction in blood cholesterol. Thus, freeze-dried berries are well tolerated.

# 3. "Standardized" berry powders

The content of two major anthocyanins in BRBs grown on different farms in Ohio varies two- to three-fold (unpublished data). Thus, to obtain a "standardized" preparation, we purchase berries (*Jewel* variety) from a single farm on a yearly basis. These berries are grown in the same part of the field, and are picked mechanically at the same degree of ripeness. After picking, they are washed and stored frozen at -20 °C. They are then shipped frozen to VanDrunen Farms (Momence, IL) to be freeze-dried and ground into a powder. The powder is stored frozen until



Fig. 1. Experimental protocols for the complete carcinogenesis (A) and the post-initiation (B) studies. Rats were treated with NMBA once per week for 15 weeks (A) or 3 times per week for 5 weeks (B). Freeze-dried berry diets were administered 2 weeks prior to initiation of NMBA treatment and for the duration of the study (A) or only following NMBA treatment (B) [23,24].

use [19]. We have found that powders have relatively constant concentrations of the above-mentioned components on a cropto-crop basis. Also, these components remain stable (i.e., <20% degradation) for at least 2 years. The vitamins, especially vitamin C, are exceptions; they undergo considerable degradation in frozen berries before the berries are freeze-dried.

#### 4. Prevention of esophagus cancer in rodents

#### 4.1. Rodent esophagus model system

Esophageal tumors are induced in the Fischer 344 (F344) rat by repeated subcutaneous (s.c.) injection of the *N*-nitrosamine carcinogen, *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine (NMBA). We either inject NMBA at 0.25–0.5 mg/kg body weight 3 times a week for 5 weeks or once per week for 15 weeks; both protocols yield 100% tumor incidence by 25 weeks [20–23]. Squamous papilloma is the predominant pathology; the incidence of squamous cell carcinomas (SCC) is low because the large papillomas occlude the esophagi before carcinomas can develop. The quantifiable pre-neoplastic lesions include simple hyperplasia, leukoplakia, and epithelial dysplasia.

# 4.2. Bioassays with berries

Freeze-dried BRBs and STRWs were administered as 5 and 10% of the diet, before, during and after NMBA treatment [19,23,24]. The data are summarized in Fig. 1A and B, and Table 1. In experiments in which BRBs were continu-

ously administered, the tumor incidence was reduced from 8 to 22% (not significant) and the tumor multiplicity by 40-50%(p < 0.05). In the same protocol, STRWs reduced the tumor incidence by 20% (not significant) and the tumor multiplicity by 24–56% (p < 0.05). These reductions in tumor response were correlated with similar reductions in the frequency of pre-neoplastic lesions, and with the ability of dietary BRBs and STRWs to reduce the formation of O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine (O<sup>6</sup>-MeGua) adducts in esophageal DNA [23-26]. Inhibition of DNA adduct formation might be expected to inhibit tumor initiation, in part, because one of the principal initiation events in rat esophageal carcinogenesis is mutational activation of the H-ras oncogene [27,28]. Activation of this gene by NMBA is associated with  $GC \rightarrow AT$  transition mutations in the second base of codon 12; these mutations are consistent with the formation of O<sup>6</sup>-MeGua adducts in DNA.

BRBs and STRWs were also evaluated for their postinitiation activity (Fig. 1B) by providing the berries after NMBA treatment stopped [23,24]. At this time point, about 50–60% of the esophageal epithelium in NMBA-treated rats is hyperplastic, and also contains occasional foci of mild to moderate dysplasia. Five and 10% dietary BRBs reduced the ultimate tumor incidence from 40 to 47% (p<0.05) and tumor multiplicity by 40–60% (p<0.05) (Table 1). In contrast, 5 and 10% STRWs had no effect on tumor incidence; however, they reduced tumor multiplicity by 31–38% (p<0.05). Dietary BRBs were shown to reduce the proliferation rate of pre-neoplastic cells in NMBA-treated esophagus almost to levels seen in vehicle-treated esophagus and in the esophagus of rats admin-

Table 1

Freeze-dried berries as effective agents against NMBA-induced esophageal tumorigenesis in the F344 rat

Berry type	Experimental protocols	Inhibition of tumor incidence (%)	Inhibition of tumor multiplicity (%)	References
BRBs <sup>a</sup>	Complete	8–22	40–50	[24]
STRWs <sup>b</sup>	Complete	20	24–56	[19,23]
BRBs	Post-initiation	40–47	40-60	[24]
STRWs	Post-initiation	0	31–38	[23]

<sup>a</sup> BRBs, freeze-dried black raspberries.

<sup>b</sup> STRWs, freeze-dried strawberries.

istered a 10% BRB diet [24]. These observations suggest that berries might be expected to be preventive in humans who have esophageal dysplasia.

# 4.3. Effects of berries on gene expression in the esophagus

A number of genes are overly expressed in the preneoplastic stages of rat esophagus [29–31]. Among these are cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). COX-2 expression and enzyme activity increases progressively with tumor development resulting in elevated levels of prostaglandin  $E_2$  (PGE<sub>2</sub>) [29]. Elevated levels of PGE<sub>2</sub> may contribute to increased cell proliferation and inflammatory events. Dietary 5% BRBs reduced the level of expression of COX-2 mRNA in NMBA-treated esophagus almost to that in control esophagus, with a corresponding 50% reduction in PGE<sub>2</sub> levels. Since up-regulation of COX-2 has been detected in human esophageal SCCs [32], dietary freeze-dried berries might produce inhibitory effects on the development of esophageal SCC in humans, in part, by down-regulation of COX-2.

The iNOS enzyme converts L-arginine to citrulline with the production of nitric oxide (NO) [33]. NO is a free radical that can donate or accept an electron to become a nitrosonium cation  $(NO^+)$  or a nitroxyl anion  $(NO^-)$ , which leads to nitrosative stress or oxidative stress, respectively. Nitrosative stress can lead to inactivation of DNA repair proteins, deamination of DNA bases and the formation of nitrosamine carcinogens. Oxidative stress contributes to the formation of peroxynitrite, which can damage DNA, and can be catalyzed by tissue peroxidases to products that induce COX-2. iNOS is overly expressed in many human cancers including esophageal SCC [34]. Dietary 5% BRBs significantly down-regulated iNOS mRNA with a reduction in nitrite levels in esophageal tissues [30]. By inhibiting iNOS and NO production, berries could reduce nitrosative and oxidative stress, inflammation, and COX-2 activity.

Angiogenesis is essential for tumor growth and expansion [35]. Several growth factors exhibit angiogenic activity including VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor and platelet-derived growth factors [36]. VEGF-C, which induces proliferation and migration of endothelial cells [37], is upregulated in esophageal SCC [38], and administration of 5% BRBs in the diet of NMBA-treated rats resulted in a significant reduction in VEGF-C mRNA [31]. There was also a marked reduction in microvessel density (MVD), indicating that modulation of angiogenesis by BRBs is associated with down-regulation of VEGF, COX-2 and iNOS in NMBA-treated rat esophagus.

cDNA microarray analysis of 30,000 genes has been conducted to depict the molecular functions berries affect (unpublished data). Rats received three subcutaneous injections of NMBA during a period of 1 week. One-half of the animals were fed control diet and the other half were fed control diet containing 5% freeze-dried BRBs. All esophagi were harvested 24 h after the last NMBA injection. More than 3100 genes showed expression changes in the NMBA alone animals. The berry diet reversed the expressions of 578 of these genes to levels seen in control esophagus, regardless of whether the genes were overexpressed or underexpressed.

# 5. The active chemopreventive constituents

We have extracted freeze-dried berries with organic solvents and water to identify the chemopreventative components [39] and assessed fractions using mouse epidermal JB6 Cl 41 cells that are stably transfected with either a nuclear factor kappa B (NFKB) or an activator protein 1 (AP-1)-luciferase reporter. The carcinogen anti-benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10 epoxide (BPDE) induces both NFkB and AP-1 in these cells, and both ethanol and water extracts inhibited up-regulation of these genes [40]. These extracts were then fractionated by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to yield several bioactive subfractions. Interestingly, the major constituents of the most active subfractions were the anthocyanins: cyanidin-3-O-glucoside, cyanidin-3-O-rutinoside and cyanidin 3-O-(2<sup>G</sup>-xylosylrutinoside) [39]. Thus, the cyanidin glucosides account for some of the chemopreventive activity of BRBs. In a follow-up study, rats were fed different fractions before, during and after treatment with NMBA (unpublished data). The anthocyanin fraction and the 80% ethanol/20% water (80/20) extracts contain the same amount of anthocyanins ( $\sim$ 3.5 µmol/g diet) that are present in a diet containing 5% freeze-dried BRBs. The 80/20 residue contained  $<1.0 \mu$ mol anthocyanins/g of diet, and the hexane extract and a sugar fraction contained no anthocyanins. Fig. 2 illustrates the results. As expected, the hexane extract and the sugar fraction (principally fructose) were inactive, whereas the anthocyanin fraction and the 80/20 extract were equally effective as the 5% BRB diet, suggesting that anthocyanins are chemopreventive. Interestingly, however, the 80/20 residue, with minute anthocyanin levels, was as effective as the 5% BRB diet. Studies are currently underway to determine if the flavan-3-ols (ellagitannin) and the flavonols (quercetin) content might be responsible for the chemopreventive activity of the 80/20 residue.



Fig. 2. Effects of BRB extracts on tumor development in NMBAtreated rat esophagus at 30 weeks. Rats treated with NMBA+5%BRBs, NMBA + anthocyanins, NMBA + 80/20 extract, and NMBA + 80/20 residue had fewer tumors than rats treated with NMBA only. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  S.E., n = 15. The symbol (\*) shows significantly lower (p < 0.05) than rats treated with NMBA only.

Effects of freeze-dried BRBs on azoxymethane (AOM)-induced colon cancer in the F344 rat [41]						
Treatment	Tumor multiplicity <sup>a,b,c</sup> (% inhibition)	Tumor volume <sup>b,d</sup> (mm <sup>3</sup> )	Tumor burden <sup>b,e</sup> (% inhibition)			
Control diet	0	NA	NA			
5.0% BRBs	0	NA	NA			
AOM only	$2.3 \pm 0.5$	$33.8 \pm 7.7$	$120.9 \pm 25$			
2.5% BRBs + AOM	$1.4 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ (42)	$35.9 \pm 17.8$	87.5±41.5 (28)			
5.0% BRBs + AOM	$1.3 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ (45)	$42.4 \pm 15.0$	$69.8 \pm 22.5$ (42)			
10.0% BRBs + AOM	$0.7 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ (71)	$15.7 \pm 5.0$	$30.2 \pm 9.8$ (75)			

Table 2 Effects of freeze-dried BRBs on azoxymethane (AOM)-induced colon cancer in the F344 rat [41]

<sup>a</sup> Mean number of tumors per animal within a given treatment group (n = 18).

<sup>b</sup> Values are means  $\pm$  S.E.

<sup>c</sup> Significantly different from AOM only (p < 0.05).

<sup>d</sup> Calculated as follows: tumor length × width × height ×  $\pi/6$ . Tumor volume means are calculated by summing tumor volumes within a group and dividing by the number of tumor-bearing animals in that treatment group. NA, not applicable.

<sup>e</sup> Sum of tumor volumes for a tumor-bearing animal. Tumor burden means are calculated by summing tumor burdens within a group and dividing by the number of tumor-bearing animals in that treatment group.

#### 6. Prevention of colon cancer in rodents

A BRB diet was tested to prevent colon cancer development in F344 rats induced by the chemical carcinogen, azoxymethane (AOM) [41] (this model is used extensively to evaluate the effects of putative chemopreventatives, in part because the histopathology of the resulting cancers resembles that of human colon cancer). AOM was administered at 15 mg/kg body weight intraperitoneally once per week for 2 weeks. At 24 h after the final AOM injections, animals were switched to treatment diets of 0, 2.5, 5 or 10% BRBs. The data are summarized in Table 2. No control animals developed tumors. Tumor multiplicity was reduced significantly by 42, 45 and 71% in the 2.5, 5 and 10% BRB + AOM groups, respectively, when compared to animals treated with AOM alone. No significant reductions in tumor volume were observed. Mean tumor burden decreased by 28, 42 and 75% in the 2.5, 5 and 10% BRB-treated groups, but none of these decreases were significant. This trend toward reduction in mean tumor burden indicates that a lower quantity of tumor tissue was present in the BRB + AOM-treated animals than in animals given AOM alone. Tumors were distributed throughout the colon, but most were in the distal region. No mechanistic studies have followed these initial observations.

#### 7. In vitro studies with berry extracts

There have been multiple cell studies with berry extracts produced as described by Xue, et al. [42] to investigate the mechanisms of action of BRBs and to identify bioactive components. Only the alcohol fraction showed a dose-dependent decrease in ability of benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P)-to induce transformation of Syrian hamster embryo (SHE) cells [42]. Similarly, Han, et al. [43] found that the dichloromethane and alcohol fractions, and two known components; namely,  $\beta$ -sitosterol and ferulic acid, selectively inhibited the growth of pre-malignant and malignant human oral cavity cell lines but not normal oral cells. They further found reduced levels of cyclin A and cell division cycle gene 2 (cdc2) in the pre-malignant cells, and reduced levels of cyclin B1, D1 and cdc2 in the malignant cells. The alcohol fraction also increased the level of p21<sup>waf1/cip1</sup> but did not influence cell cycle distribution. In contrast, treatment of pre-malignant and malignant oral cells with ferulic acid resulted in accumulation of the cells in the  $G_2/M$  phase of the cell cycle. Ferulic acid also induced cyclin B1 and cdc2 in both cell lines and  $p21^{waf1/cip1}$  in the malignant cell line.  $\beta$ sitosterol treatment led to accumulation of both pre-malignant and malignant cell lines in the  $G_2/M$  and  $G_0/G_1$  phases of the cell cycle, increased levels of p21<sup>waf1/cip1</sup> and decreased levels of cyclin B1 and cdc2 genes in both cell lines. Rodrigo, et al. [44] also evaluated the preventative effects of the alcohol fraction on human oral cancer cell lines and found inhibition of cell proliferation, VEGF production, nitric oxide synthase activity, apoptosis, and terminal cell differentiation. Lastly, preliminary data from our laboratory indicates that treatment of tumorigenic and non-tumorigenic rat esophageal epithelial cells with the alcohol fraction, or individual anthocyanins (cyanidin-3-O-glucoside or cyanidin-3-O-rutinoside) inhibits proliferation, induces apoptosis and modulates the expression of COX-2 and iNOS in tumorigenic cells as compared to non-tumorigenic cells [45].

In initial studies with the JB-6 Cl 41 mouse epidermal cell model [40] with the alcohol fraction showed inhibition of BPDEinduced AP-1 and NFkB transactivation. The inhibitory effects appeared to be mediated via inhibition of mitogen activated protein kinase activation and inhibitory subunit kB phosphorylation, respectively. Pretreatment of cells with this fraction did not result in an inhibition of BPDE binding to DNA; thus, this was not a mechanism of reduced AP-1 and NFkB activation. Interestingly, none of the tested fractions was found to affect p53-dependent transcription activity [40]. The ability of BRBs to inhibit tumor development may be mediated by impairing signal transduction pathways leading to activation of AP-1 and NF $\kappa$ B. This supposition is supported by the demonstration that the alcohol fraction markedly inhibited activation of PI-3K, Akt, and p70 S6 kinase, suggesting that another mechanism for the chemopreventive activity may be through inhibition of the PI-3K/Akt/AP-1/VEGF pathway (Fig. 3) [46].

Our [39] fractionation studies point to cyanidin-3-Orutinoside, cyanidin-3-O-glucoside and cyanidin-3-O-xylosylrutinoside as the active components of BRBs. However, another laboratory [47] found that the ellagitannins in red raspberries were the most effective inhibitors of the growth of human cer-



Fig. 3. Schematic illustration of known molecular mechanisms that may be involved in the chemopreventive activities of alcohol-soluble black raspberry fraction [57].

vical cancer (HeLa) cells *in vitro*. Also, extracts of other berry types (bilberry, black currant, cloudberry, lingonberry, raspberry and strawberry) reduced the growth of HT-29 colon cancer cells [48]. The bilberry extract was the most potent and the strawberry extract the least. Interestingly, even though having a low content of anthocyanins, the cloudberry extract caused a 14-fold induction of p21<sup>waf1</sup> and induced BCL-2 associated X protein (Bax) leading to the overall conclusion that, in addition to the anthocyanins, other berry components are responsible for their chemopreventive effects.

#### 8. Human clinical trials with berries

#### 8.1. Toxicity

A trial with eleven subjects was undertaken to determine the safety/tolerability of freeze-dried BRBs and to measure anthocyanins and ellagic acid in the plasma and urine [49] in subjects fed 45 g (equivalent to a 5% BRB diet in animals) of freezedried BRB powder as a slurry in water daily for 7 days. Blood samples were collected pre-dose on days 1 and 7 and at 10 time points over a period of 12 h post dose. Urine was collected for 12 h pre-dose on days 1 and 7 and at three 4-h intervals post dose. There was a low incidence of mild or moderate constipation in four of the eleven subjects. Maximum concentrations of anthocyanins and ellagic acid in plasma occurred at 1–2 h, and maximum quantities in urine appeared from 0 to 4 h. Absorption of both anthocyanins and ellagic acid was less than 1% of the administered dose.

#### 8.2. Esophagus trials

#### 8.2.1. Barrett's esophagus

Twenty BE Patients were provided 32 or 45 g (female and male, respectively) of BRB powder daily as a slurry in water for 6 months. Biopsies were taken before and after BRB treatment

for biomarker analysis. Each subject collected urine for a 3-h period in the morning, at study baseline (pre-berry treatment), at week 12 of study, and at the final time point of 26 weeks. Urine was evaluated for the oxidative damage biomarkers 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) and 8-epi-prostaglandin F2 $\alpha$  (8-Iso-PGF2) [51–53]. To date, only limited data from 10 of the 20 patients has been reported [50]. The length of the Barrett's lesion was unchanged in these 10 subjects following the 26-week dietary intervention. However, levels of urinary 8-Iso-PGF2 were significantly reduced, but there was no significant change in mean levels of urinary 8-OHdG (although, at the individual level, five patients experienced significant declines in 8-OHdG).

# 8.3. Colon trials

#### 8.3.1. Colon cancer patients

One trial (pilot) will study 50 subjects with colorectal cancer and/or polyps. Upon enrollment, baseline biopsies of normal and tumor/polyp tissues are collected, as well as blood and urine specimens. Patients then consume 20 g of freeze-dried BRB powder as a slurry in water, three times per day (60 g total) until their scheduled surgery date, usually within two to 4 weeks. Post-treatment biopsy specimens are collected during the surgery. The pre-and post-treatment specimens will be analyzed for cell proliferation, inflammation, apoptosis and angiogenesis biomarkers. In a second colon trial (randomized design) we are evaluating FAP patients with an ileorectal anastamosis. Group 1 is consuming 20 g of BRB powder orally as a slurry in water, three times per day, for a total of 60 g daily. This group is also placing two suppositories composed of BRB powder into their rectum once a day before bedtime. Group 2 is being treated orally with 20 g of a placebo slurry, three times daily, plus two BRB suppositories once daily before bed. The treatment period is 9 months, with 3 time points for endoscopic evaluation of size and number of polyps (baseline, 18 and 36 weeks). Preliminary results for patients 18 weeks on protocol suggest that BRB powder causes  $\sim$ 50% regression rate of rectal polyps (unpublished data). Biomarkers of cell proliferation, apoptosis, inflammation and angiogenesis are being measured.

#### 9. Summary

Data from 15 years of investigations endorse the use of freezedried berries for prevention trials of digestive tract cancers. Berries contain a number of known chemopreventive agents; however, most if not all of these agents is too low to be protective unless concentrated 9–10-fold by the freeze-drying. Studies with extracts of freeze-dried berries suggest that the anthocyanins are important for their cancer preventive effects, particularly in view of their relative abundance in black raspberries. It is likely, however, that other compounds contribute significantly to the overall protective effect and studies to identify and rank these compounds are underway. Ultimately it may be possible to achieve equal or better cancer preventive effects with a single berry component or several components in combination which can be produced synthetically. One important factor is localized absorption of the berry components into target tissues [54]. For example, dietary administration of 10% strawberry powder to strain A mice failed to protect against chemically induced cancer in the lung, suggesting that preventive components did not reach the lung in sufficient concentrations to be effective [55].

Mechanistic studies indicate that berries affect both the initiation and progression stages of tumor development [56]. Berry components influence carcinogen metabolism with lowered levels of DNA adducts. They also reduce the growth rate of pre-malignant cells, stimulate apoptosis and cellular differentiation, and reduce inflammation and angiogenesis. It is clear that berry components influence multiple signal transduction pathways through modulation of key regulatory genes such as NFkB, AP-1, P1-3K/Akt, p38/Erk1/2 leading to effects on downstream genes such as COX-2, VEGF and iNOS [57]. Although it is known that oxidative radicals can induce expression of regulatory genes in signal transduction pathways, it is unlikely that the effects of berry components on gene expression reside solely in their antioxidant activity; i.e., their ability to quench oxidative radicals. This is evidenced by the fact that berry extracts downregulate luciferase reporter genes such as AP-1 and NFkB in cultured mouse epidermal cells for periods of at least 1-2 h after treatment of the cells with agents that induce expression of these genes. In view of the very short half-life of oxidative radicals, it is unlikely that this down-regulation can be attributed to the quenching of oxygen radicals.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors thank the Ohio Agriculture Research and Development Corporation (OARDC), the United States Department of Agriculture CREES Special Research Grants Program and National Cancer Institute Grants RO1 CA 103180 and RO1 CA96130 for support of this research.

#### References

- Beer DG, Stoner GD. Clinical models of chemoprevention for the esophagus. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 1998;12:1055–77.
- [2] Cameron AJ, Ott BJ, Payne WS. The incidence of adenocarcinoma in columnar-lined (Barrett's) esophagus. N Engl J Med 1985;313:857–9.
- [3] Streitz Jr JM, Andrews Jr CW, Ellis Jr FH. Endoscopic surveillance of Barrett's esophagus. Does it help? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1993;105:383–7.
- [4] Stoner GD, Rustgi AK. Biology of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, gastrointestinal cancers: biology. Diagn Therap 1995;8:141–6.
- [5] Kuwano H, Watanabe M, Sadanaga N, Ikebe M, Mori M, Sugimachi K. Squamous epithelial dysplasia associated with squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. Cancer Lett 1993;72:141–7.
- [6] Shu YJ, Uan XQ, Jin SP. Further investigation of the relationship between dysplasia and cancer of the esophagus. Chin Med 1981;6:39–41.
- [7] Schottenfeld D. Epidemiology of cancer of the esophagus. Semin Oncol 1984;11:92–100.
- [8] Sons HU. Etiologic and epidemiologic factors of carcinoma of the esophagus. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1987;165:183–90.
- [9] Yang CS. Research on esophageal cancer in China: a review. Cancer Res 1980;40:2633–40.
- [10] Rose E. Esophageal cancer in Transkei: 1955–69. J Natl Cancer Inst 1973;51:7–16.
- [11] Wynder EL, Bross IJ. A study of etiological factors in cancer of the esophagus. Cancer 1961;14:389–401.

- [12] Tuyns AJ. Epidemiology of esophageal cancer in France. In: Pfeifer CJ, editor. Cancer of the esophagus. Florida: CRC Press; 1982. p. 3– 22.
- [13] Hecht SS, Stoner GD. Lung and esophageal carcinogenesis. In: Aisner J, Arriagada R, Green MR, Martini N, Perry MC, editors. Comprehensive textbook of thoracic oncology. Maryland: Williams and Wilkins; 1996. p. 25–50.
- [14] Tuyns AJ. Recherches concernant les facteurs etiologiques du cancer de l'oesophage dans l'ouest de la France. Bull Cancer 1980;67:15–28.
- [15] Ribeiro Jr U, Posner MC, Safatle-Ribeiro AV, Reynolds JC. Risk factors for squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. Br J Surg 1996;83:1174– 85.
- [16] Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Murray T, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics 2007. CA Cancer J Clin 2007;57:43–66.
- [17] Mandal S, Stoner GD. Inhibition of *N*-nitrosobenzylmethylamine induced esophageal tumorigenesis in rats by ellagic acid. Carcinogenesis 1990;11:338–49.
- [18] Daniel EM, Krupnick AS, Heur YH, Blinzler JA, Nims RW, Stoner GD. Extraction, stability, and quantitation of ellagic acid in various fruits and nuts. J Food Comp Anal 1989;2:338–49.
- [19] Stoner GD, Kresty LA, Carlton PS, Siglin JC, Morse MA. Isothiocyanates and freeze-dried strawberries as inhibitors of esophageal cancer. Toxicol Sci 1990;52S:95–100.
- [20] Stoner GD, Gupta A. Etiology and chemoprevention of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 2001;22:1737–46.
- [21] Siglin JC, Khare L, Stoner GD. Evaluation of dose and treatment duration on the esophageal tumorigenicity of *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine in rats. Carcinogenesis 1995;16:259–65.
- [22] Stoner GD, Morrissey DT, Heur YH, Daniel EM, Galati AJ, Wagner SA. Inhibitory effects of phenethyl isothiocyanate on *N*nitrosomethylbenzylamine carcinogenesis in the rat esophagus. Cancer Res 1991;51:2063–70.
- [23] Carlton PS, Kresty LA, Siglin JC, Morse MA, Lu J, Morgan C, et al. Inhibition of *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine-induced tumorigenesis in the rat esophagus by dietary freeze-dried strawberries. Carcinogenesis 2001;22:441–6.
- [24] Kresty LA, Morgan C, Carlton PS, Lu J, Gupta A, Blackwood M, et al. Chemoprevention of esophageal tumorigenesis by dietary administration of lyophilized black raspberries. Cancer Res 2001;61:6112–9.
- [25] Craddock VM, Henderson AR. Effect of *N*-nitrosamines carcinogenic for oesophagus on *O*6-alkyl-guanine-DNA-methyl transferase in rat oesophagus and liver. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1986;111:229–36.
- [26] Hogdson M, Wiessler M, Kleihues P. Preferential methylation of target organ DNA by the esophageal carcinogen *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine. Carcinogenesis 1980;1:861–6.
- [27] Lozano JC, Nakazawa H, Cross MP, Cabral R, Yamasaki H. G to A mutations in p53 and Ha-ras genes in esophageal papillomas induced by *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine in two strains of rats. Mol Carcinog 1994;9:33–9.
- [28] Wang Y, You M, Reynolds SH, Stoner GD, Anderson MW. Mutational activation of the cellular Harvey ras oncogene in rat esophageal papillomas induced by methylbenzylnitrosamine. Cancer Res 1990;50:1591–5.
- [29] Carlton PS, Gopalakrishnan R, Gupta A, Habib S, Morse MA, Stoner GD. Piroxicam is an ineffective inhibitor of *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamineinduced tumorigenesis in rat esophagus. Cancer Res 2002;62:4376–82.
- [30] Chen T, Hwang H, Rose ME, Nines RG, Stoner GD. Chemopreventive properties of black raspberries in *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine-induced rat esophageal tumorigenesis: down-regulation of cyclooxygenase-2, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and c-Jun. Cancer Res 2006;66:2853–9.
- [31] Chen T, Rose ME, Hwang H, Nines RG, Stoner GD. Black raspberries inhibit *N*-nitrosomethylbenzylamine (NMBA)-induced angiogenesis in rat esophagus parallel to the suppression of COX-2 and iNOS. Carcinogenesis 2006;27:2301–7.
- [32] Ratnasinghe D, Tangrea J, Roth MJ, Dawsey S, Hu N, Anver M, et al. Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus; an immunohistochemical survey. Anticancer Res 1999:171–4.
- [33] Nathan C, Xie QW. Regulation of biosynthesis of nitric oxide. J Biol Chem 1994;269:13725–8.

- [34] Tanaka H, Kijima H, Tokunaga T, Tajima T, Himeno S, Kenmochi T, et al. Frequent expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. Int J Oncol 1999;14:1069–73.
- [35] Folkman J. What is the evidence that tumors are angiogenesis dependent? J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82:4–6.
- [36] Folkman J, Cole P, Zimmerman S. Tumor behavior in isolated perfused organs: *in vitro* growth and metastases of biopsy material in rabbit thyroid and canine intestinal segment. Ann Surg 1966;164:491–2.
- [37] Veikkola T, Karkkainen M, Claesson-Welsh L, Alitalo K. Regulation of angiogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. Cancer Res 2000;60:203–12.
- [38] Noguchi T, Takeno S, Shibata T, Uchida Y, Yokoyama S, Muller W. VEGF-C expression correlates with histological differentiation and metastasis in squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. Oncol Rep 2002;9:995– 9.
- [39] Hecht SS, Huang C, Stoner GD, Li J, Kenney PM, Sturla SJ, et al. Identification of cyanidin glycosides as constituents of freeze-dried black raspberries which inhibit anti-benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide-induced NFkappaB and AP-1 activity. Carcinogenesis 2006;27:1617–26.
- [40] Huang C, Huang Y, Li J, Hu W, Aziz R, Tang MS, et al. Inhibition of benzo(a)pyrene diol-epoxide-induced transactivation of activated protein 1 and nuclear factor kappaB by black raspberry extracts. Cancer Res 2002;62:6857–63.
- [41] Harris GK, Gupta A, Nines RG, Kresty LA, Habib SG, Frankel WL, et al. Effects of lyophilized black raspberries on azoxymethane-induced colon cancer and 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine levels in the Fischer 344 rat. Nutr Cancer 2001;40:125–33.
- [42] Xue H, Aziz RM, Sun N, Cassady JM, Kamendulis LM, Xu Y, et al. Inhibition of cellular transformation by berry extracts. Carcinogenesis 2001;2:351–6 [Erratum in: Carcinogenesis; 2001;22:831–3].
- [43] Han C, Ding H, Casto B, Stoner GD, D'Ambrosio S. Inhibition of the growth of premalignant and malignant human oral cell lines by extracts and components of black raspberries. Nutr Cancer 2005;51:207–17.
- [44] Rodrigo K, Rawal Y, Renner R, Schwartz S, Tian Q, Larsen P, et al. Suppression of the tumorigenic phenotype in human oral squamous cell carcinoma cells by an ethanol extract derived from freeze-dried black raspberries. Nutr Cancer 2006;54:58–68.
- [45] Zikri N, Hecht H, Auer H, Kornacker K, Tian Q, Stoner GD. Effect of black raspberry components on growth and gene expression in rat esophageal cells. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 2006;47. Abstract LB 348.

- [46] Huang C, Li J, Song L, Zhang D, Tong Q, Ding M, et al. Black raspberry extracts inhibit benzo(a)pyrene diol-epoxide-induced activator protein 1 activation and VEGF transcription by targeting the phosphotidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Cancer Res 2006;66:581–7.
- [47] Ross HA, McDougall GJ, Stewart D. Antiproliferative activity is predominantly associated with ellagitannins in raspberry extracts. Phytochem 2007;68:218–28.
- [48] Wu Q, Koponen J, Mykkanen H, Torronen R. Berry phenolic extracts modulate the expression of p21<sup>waf1</sup> and Bax but not Bcl-2 in HT-29 colon cancer cells. J Agric Food Chem 2007;55:1156–63.
- [49] Stoner GD, Sardo C, Apseloff G, Mullet D, Wargo W, Pound V, et al. Pharmacokinetics of anthocyanins and ellagic acid in healthy volunteers fed freeze-dried black raspberries for 7 days. J Clin Pharmacol 2005;45:1153–64.
- [50] Kresty LA, Frenkel WL, Hammond CD, Baird ME, Mele JM, Stoner GD, et al. Transitioning from preclinincal to clinical chemopreventive assessments of lyophilized black raspberries: Interim results show berries modulate markers of oxidative stress in Barrett's esophagus patients. Nutr Cancer 2006;54:148–56.
- [51] Yin B, Whyatt RM, Perera FP, Randall MC, Cooper TB, Santella RM. Determination of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine by an immunoaffinity chromatography-monoclonal antibody-based ELISA. Free Radic Biol Med 1995;18:1023–32.
- [52] Loft S, Poulsen HE. Estimation of oxidative DNA damage in man from urinary excretion of repair products. Acta Biochim Pol 1998;45:133–44.
- [53] Basu S, Helmersson J. Factors regulating isoprostane formation *in vivo*. Antioxid Redox Signal 2005;7:221–35.
- [54] Casto B, Kresty LA, Kraly CL, Pearl DK, Knobloch TJ, Schut HA, et al. Chemoprevention of oral cancer by black raspberries. Anticancer Res 2002;6C:4005–15.
- [55] Carlton PS, Kresty LA, Stoner GD. Failure of dietary lyophilized strawberries to inhibit 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanoneand benzo[a]pyrene-induced lung tumorigenesis in strain A/J mice. Cancer Lett 2000;159:113–7.
- [56] Stoner GD, Chen T, Kresty LA, Aziz RM, Reinemann T, Ron Nines. Protection against esophageal cancer in rodents with lyophilized berries: potential mechanisms. Nutr Cancer 2006;54:33–46.
- [57] Lu H, Li H, Zhang D, Stoner GD, Chuanshu H. Molecular mechanisms involved in chemoprevention of black raspberry extracts: From transcription factors to their target genes. Nutr Cancer 2006;54:69–78.